# IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF THE REPUBLIC OF SINGAPORE

# [2021] SGCA 4

Civil Appeal No 30 of 2020

	Between		
CBS	And	Appellant	
СВР		Respondent	
In the matter of Originating Sumn	nons No 215 of 2019		
	Between		
СВР		Plaintiff	
	And		
CBS		Defendant	
JUDGMENT			
[Arbitration] — [Award] — [Reco [Breach of natural justice] — [Wi [Arbitration] — [Award] — [Reco	tness gating]		

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
FACTS	1
BACKGROUND TO THE DISPUTE	1
THE ARBITRATION	5
Late filing of defence and counterclaim	5
Need for witness testimony	7
THE HEARING AND THE FINAL AWARD	11
DECISION BELOW	12
THE PARTIES' CASES ON APPEAL	15
THE APPELLANT	15
THE RESPONDENT	16
ISSUES	17
Breach of Natural Justice	19
Whether there was breach	20
Whether the breach affected Final Award	37
Whether the Buyer was prejudiced	38
THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY	42
Partial setting aside	42
Remittal	43
THE TRIBUNAL'S JURISDICTION	52
CONCLUSION	53

This judgment is subject to final editorial corrections approved by the court and/or redaction pursuant to the publisher's duty in compliance with the law, for publication in LawNet and/or the Singapore Law Reports.

CBS v CBP

# [2021] SGCA 4

Court of Appeal — Civil Appeal No 30 of 2020 Sundaresh Menon CJ, Judith Prakash JCA and Quentin Loh JAD 5 August 2020; 26 August 2020

20 January 2021

Judgment reserved.

# Quentin Loh JAD (delivering the judgment of the court):

#### Introduction

This is an appeal by an award creditor, against the decision of the High Court judge ("the Judge") in *CBP v CBS* [2020] SGHC 23 ("the Judgment") to set aside the arbitral award ("the Final Award"), chiefly on the ground of a breach of natural justice.

#### **Facts**

# Background to the dispute

The appellant, CBS, is a bank incorporated in Singapore ("the Bank"). The respondent, CBP, is a company incorporated in India, which is engaged in the business of steel manufacturing and power generation ("the Buyer").

By an email dated 19 November 2014, the Buyer entered into an agreement with a third party, ("the Seller"), to purchase 50,000 metric tonnes ("MT") of coal from the Seller at a price of US\$74 per MT. The coal from Australia was to be delivered in two tranches: the first 30,000 MT to be delivered in December 2014 and the second 20,000 MT to be delivered in January 2015. This came to be recorded in two separate sale and purchase agreements for the respective tranches. We refer to these as "the First Agreement" and "the Second Agreement". Both agreements were executed on 7 January 2015 but backdated to 24 November 2014 and 20 December 2014 respectively.

Both agreements contained an arbitration clause which stipulated arbitration under the Rules of the Singapore Chamber of Maritime Arbitration (3rd Edition, 2015) ("SCMA Rules") in the event of a dispute:

Any dispute arising out of or in connection with this contract including any question regarding the existence, interpretation, validity, frustration, novation, scope of the contract; performance of the contract, breach of contract, termination and consequences of termination of this contract shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the Rules of Singapore Chamber of Maritime Arbitration ('SCMA Rules') as amended and in force, from time to time.

As is not unusual in these cases, sometime earlier, on or around 8 October 2014, the Seller had entered into an Accounts Receivable Purchase Facility with the Bank. The facility agreement provided for the assignment of the Seller's trade debts to the Bank. Pursuant to this facility agreement, the Seller wrote to the Buyer on 19 January 2015 that it had assigned all of its trade debts so that "all amounts due both now and in the future, in respect of invoices, must be paid only to [the Bank]". The Second Agreement contains an assignment clause, cl 22, which provides as follows:

... The Seller is permitted to assign any receivables due under the Agreement to any bank or other Institution as part of its financing agreement. The Buyer hereby agrees to execute any deeds, documents or letters or do such other things as may be reasonable [sic] be required by the Seller to give effect to or recognise any such assignment.

...

- The first tranche of 30,000 MT of coal was duly delivered by the Seller to the Buyer in India and there are no disputes over this shipment. The dispute arises over the delivery of the second shipment of coal. This 20,000 MT of coal was shipped by the Seller to the Buyer on 21 December 2014.
- On 22 January 2015, the Bank sent a bill of exchange drawn by the Seller to the Buyer for the payment of US\$1,480,400 by 22 June 2015 ("the Bill of Exchange"). On 12 February 2015, the Buyer's bank sent a "SWIFT" message to the Bank stating unequivocally that the Buyer "has accepted the [Bill of Exchange] and will make payment on due date" ("the SWIFT message"). The SWIFT message also made clear that the "Amt Accepted" was US\$1,480,400. It appears this Bill of Exchange was never given to the Bank as it did not feature in its claim against the Buyer.
- The Buyer contends that upon arrival of the coal on 14 January 2015 at Gangavaram, India, it was unable to lift 5,000 MT of coal from the port because the Seller had only procured the issuance of delivery orders for 15,000 MT of coal.<sup>3</sup> The Buyer failed to make any payment on the Bill of Exchange by 22 June 2015. Between 6 July 2015 and 20 October 2015, the Bank sent a

Core Bundle ("CB"), Vol II, pp 61 to 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CB, Vol II, p 62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CB, Vol III, p 110, para 28.

number of emails to the Buyer seeking payment. The Buyer responded twice via email explaining that it was "trying [its] level best to arrange maximum funds so that [the] liabilities can be paid at the earliest" and that the delay was the result of temporary cash flow issues. In the correspondence, the Buyer also alluded to the unfavourable market conditions which had apparently softened demand for the Buyer's finished goods and depressed its prices.<sup>4</sup>

- However, sometime in October 2015, in a notable *volte-face* from its foregoing admissions of debt, the Buyer raised two issues in an email to the Bank. First, as mentioned earlier, the Buyer averred that only 15,000 MT of the 20,000 MT of coal had been supplied to it and that it had to procure the remainder from elsewhere. Secondly, the Buyer stated that there had been a "steep decline in the prices of coal" and that it was "not inclined" to pay the US\$74 per MT under the Second Agreement.<sup>5</sup> Instead, it offered to bear some of the price fluctuation and pay US\$61 per MT.
- It is not disputed that on 2 December 2015 the Seller met with the Buyer's representatives to discuss the outstanding payment and the alleged shortfall in delivery ("the December 2015 meeting"). The Buyer alleges it had four representatives and the Seller had two representatives who were accompanied by a third person from a trade credit entity. However, what transpired at that meeting is disputed.
- 11 According to the Buyer, the parties reached an oral agreement for the global settlement of their disputes during the December 2015 meeting.

Record of Appeal ("ROA"), Vol III(C), p 153 and 155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> ROA, Vol III(A), pp 121 to 123.

Specifically, both parties agreed that the price of the coal would be revised to US\$61 per MT for all 50,000 MT of coal contracted under the two sale and purchase agreements; however, the Seller refused to honour this agreement. Whilst the Seller does not dispute that the December 2015 meeting took place, it contends that they did not agree to any new price at the meeting.<sup>6</sup>

#### The arbitration

On 21 October 2016, not having received any payment, the Bank commenced arbitration against the Buyer claiming the outstanding sum of US\$1,480,400 and interest. A sole arbitrator was appointed on 25 April 2017 under the SCMA Rules.

The Buyer raised a jurisdictional objection to the arbitration on the basis that there was no arbitration agreement between it and the Bank because the Seller's assignment was only for its receivables. This was heard by the arbitrator as a preliminary issue and on 6 December 2017 the arbitrator issued a partial award concluding that the assignment of receivables by the Seller included the assignment of the entire Second Agreement including the arbitration clause ("the Partial Award"). The arbitrator therefore found that he had jurisdiction over the dispute.

### Late filing of defence and counterclaim

After the issuance of the Partial Award, the Buyer was directed to file its defence to the Bank's statement of case by 8 January 2018. It failed to do so. On 9 January 2018, the arbitrator stated that unless he was otherwise advised,

<sup>6</sup> CB, Vol III, p 60, para 14.

he would "conclude that [the Buyer] has elected not to file a Defence and/or Counterclaim and the arbitration will proceed accordingly". The Buyer replied stating that it was challenging the Partial Award in the Indian courts and requested that the arbitrator await the outcome of that challenge before proceeding.<sup>7</sup>

On 16 March 2018, shortly before the scheduled final oral hearing, the Buyer suddenly informed the arbitrator that it intended to contest the claim on its merits, albeit under protest as to his jurisdiction, and asked for eight weeks to file its statement of defence.<sup>8</sup> On 20 March 2018, the arbitrator granted the Buyer 14 calendar days to file its defence and counterclaim together with a list of witnesses, if any. Notably, the arbitrator directed in his email that:<sup>9</sup>

Once all submission [sic] have been completed *I would ask the* parties to review and agree on the necessity of an oral hearing. Should the parties not be able to agree that the decision should be based on documents only then pursuant to SCMA Rule 28 we will schedule a hearing. [emphasis added]

On 8 April 2018, one day before the Buyer's pleadings were due, it sought a further extension. The arbitrator denied the Buyer's request but allowed an extension for the submission of the Buyer's list of witnesses. On 10 April 2018, the Buyer submitted its defence and counterclaim, which was entitled "reply on merits", along with a list of seven named witnesses. Six of the witnesses were persons which the Buyer claimed were present at the December 2015 meeting where, according to the Buyer, the parties had agreed to a reduction of the coal price for the entire 50,000 MT of coal from US\$74 per MT

<sup>7</sup> ROA, Vol III(A), p 249.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CB, Vol III, p 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CB, Vol III, p 6.

to US\$61 per MT. Furthermore, the Buyer claimed in its pleadings that the Seller had failed to deliver 5,000 MT of coal and thus, the Buyer counterclaimed for the cost of procuring that balance from the open market.

# Need for witness testimony

- Once the Buyer's "reply on merits" was submitted, the parties were, as directed, to consider whether an oral hearing was necessary. As shall be seen, the particular question of whether the Buyer's witnesses should be permitted to give oral testimony at a hearing formed the crux of the setting aside application below and the appeal before us.
- The Bank filed its reply and defence to the Buyer's "reply on merits" on 24 April 2018. In its cover email, the Bank informed the arbitrator that it did not intend to call any witnesses or submit any witness statements. The Bank provided a list of reasons for this, which included its view that the dispute turned "primarily on the contractual interpretation" of the Second Agreement and that the Buyer had not explained its reasons for calling the seven witnesses in its list. Therefore, the Bank submitted that the arbitration should proceed on a documents-only basis. Alternatively, if an oral hearing was necessary, a hearing could be held for oral *submissions* only as opposed to the taking of oral evidence from witnesses. This, according to the Bank, was in accordance with r 28.1 of the SCMA Rules, which is the key provision in dispute in the present appeal.
- Following the Bank's indications, the arbitrator requested that the Buyer provide "its position/reasons for calling the 7 witnesses and/or the need for their oral testimony". On 7 May 2018, the Buyer replied stating simply that an oral hearing was "required and necessary" as it had submitted in the SCMA

Questionnaire attached to the same email. However, the Questionnaire was found by the arbitrator to be lacking in detail (see also below at [72]).

- Dissatisfied with the Buyer's answers, the arbitrator again sought, on 8 May 2018, a "descriptive basis of what [the Buyer] expects to develop with the introduction of the proposed witnesses". <sup>10</sup> In its response on 11 May 2018, the Buyer re-asserted the "necessity of examining the witnesses" because "the case does not solely turn on the documents [*sic*] interpretation" as had been submitted by the Bank. <sup>11</sup>
- 21 On 1 June 2018, the arbitrator wrote to parties directing as follows:

Before I rule on whether the arbitration will be on documents only or an oral hearing is necessary I require the following:

- a. Detailed written statements from each of the witnesses [the Buyer] plans to call...
- b. A brief submitted separately by [the Bank] and [the Buyer] regarding what constitutes 'breach of natural justice' under the laws of Singapore.

[emphasis added]

This direction set off a chain of correspondence concerning the modalities of the hearing.

The Buyer replied on the same day, stating that it was a breach of the rules of natural justice for the arbitrator to require it to submit witness statements before he decided whether to hold an oral hearing. It also highlighted that some

<sup>10</sup> ROA, Vol III(D), p 152.

<sup>11</sup> ROA, Vol III(B), pp 106 to 107.

of the witnesses on its list were representatives of the Seller and reiterated the necessity for it to cross-examine the witnesses.

- On 4 June 2018, the arbitrator replied to the Buyer's email assuring parties that he had not made any decisions on *whether* a hearing ought to be held and *if so*, what form it should take on. The arbitrator also highlighted that pursuant to r 33.1(c) of the SCMA Rules, he had the authority to "conduct such enquiries as may appear to the Tribunal to be necessary or expedient".
- In its response, the Buyer replied on 6 June 2018 stating that the calling of witnesses was within its entitlement under r 28.1 of the SCMA Rules, which provides that an arbitrator "shall hold a hearing for the presentation of evidence by witnesses, including expert witnesses, or for oral submissions" [emphasis added] unless parties have agreed to a documents-only arbitration. The Buyer also stated that r 33.1(c) did not allow the arbitrator to negate its right to call witnesses at a hearing.
- On 7 June 2018, the arbitrator replied denying the Buyer's request to dispense with the detailed witness statements, stating that his instructions of 1 June 2018 remained. Nearly a month later, on 4 July 2018, the arbitrator wrote to both counsel, repeating his request for the witness statements from the Buyer and a brief of what constitutes breach of natural justice under Singapore law. Importantly, he stated that if the Buyer still did not submit its witness statements, it would be taken as having waived "any right to submit witnesses in the event of an oral hearing". 12

<sup>12</sup> ROA, Vol III(B), p 130.

On 16 July 2018, the Buyer reiterated its earlier position that it was entitled to call its witnesses to give oral evidence notwithstanding the lack of written statements for each witness.

- Finally, on 20 July 2018, the arbitrator directed that since parties have not agreed to a documents-only arbitration, pursuant to r 28.1 of the SCMA Rules, a hearing would be held on 21 August 2018 *for oral submissions only*. The arbitrator stated that there would be no witnesses presented at the hearing because the Buyer had "failed to provide witness statements or any evidence of the substantive value of presenting witnesses". It is this specific direction barring all of the Buyer's witness testimony that forms the foundation of the Buyer's setting aside application on the ground of breach of natural justice. In addition, the arbitrator stated that the Buyer's counterclaim on the 5,000 MT of purportedly undelivered coal would not be heard since it had failed to deposit the necessary funds with the SCMA.
- A day before the scheduled hearing for oral *submissions*, the Buyer wrote to the arbitrator to reiterate that the denial of witness examination was "a violation of [the] principles of natural justice and also against the principles of [a] full and fair hearing."<sup>14</sup> It asserted that the hearing would be a "mere formality" and alleged that the arbitrator had pre-judged the matter. Thus, the Buyer considered that "no fruitful purpose [was] served" by its participation in the scheduled hearing.<sup>15</sup> In response, the arbitrator stated that he had not made up his mind on the matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CB Vol (III), p 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CB Vol (III), p 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CB Vol (III), p 105.

#### The hearing and the Final Award

On 21 August 2018, the arbitrator conducted the hearing via telephone. The Buyer did not join the call and no witness testimony was given. The arbitrator allowed the Bank to make its oral submissions. As noted by the arbitrator in his Final Award, no new or additional documents, evidence or submissions were presented by the Bank.

- The Final Award was issued on 16 November 2018. The arbitrator allowed the Bank's claim for the US\$1,480,400 under the Second Agreement as well as interest. The Buyer's counterclaim for 5,000 MT of alleged undelivered coal was dismissed. The arbitrator addressed, *inter alia*, two main issues: (a) whether the contracted quantity and quality of coal had been delivered pursuant to the Second Agreement; and (b) whether there was a subsequent agreement for a price adjustment as alleged by the Buyer.
- The arbitrator found that 20,000 MT of coal had been delivered by the Seller and this was supported by the documentary evidence. In contrast, there was no documentation presented by the Buyer evidencing the alleged shortfall of 5,000 MT of coal. Further, the arbitrator dismissed the suggestion that there had been a subsequent agreement to lower the price of the coal. The arbitrator noted that the first tranche of 30,000 MT of coal had been duly delivered and paid for, and there was no written evidence that the Buyer or the Seller intended to change this price during the December 2015 meeting. This was bolstered by the clear admissions by the Buyer and its bank that they would satisfy the debt claims (see [7]–[8] above). Cll 19 (which required all amendments to be in writing and signed by the representatives of the Buyer and the Seller) and 20 (an entire agreement clause which similarly required variations to be written

and signed by authorised agents of both parties) of the Second Agreement also militated against the formation of a subsequent oral agreement. There was no evidence that these formalities had been complied with.

#### **Decision below**

- Before the Judge, the Buyer sought to set aside the entirety of the Final Award. Importantly, we note, no application was made to remit the Final Award back to the arbitrator. Three main issues arose in the application (Judgment at [52]):
  - (a) First, whether there was a breach of natural justice in connection with the making of the award, and whether the rights of the Buyer were prejudiced as a result.
  - (b) Secondly, if the award is not set aside under issue (a), whether the Buyer is precluded from raising jurisdictional objections at this point.
  - (c) Thirdly, if the Buyer is not precluded from raising jurisdictional objections, whether the arbitrator was properly seised of jurisdiction.
- To be clear, the Buyer only contested the failure of the arbitrator to allow the hearing of its witnesses in relation to the oral agreement reached at the December 2015 meeting. It did not contest the arbitrator's decision on its counterclaim since it concedes that it did not pay the requisite fees to the SCMA.<sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> ROA, Vol III(D), p 237, lines 7 to 9.

The Judge found that there was a breach of the rule of natural justice that parties must have the opportunity to be heard by the arbitral tribunal. As noted above at [18], the bone of contention was the interpretation of r 28.1 of the SCMA Rules, which reads:

*Unless* the parties have agreed on a documents-only arbitration or that no hearing should be held, the Tribunal *shall* hold a hearing for the presentation of evidence by witnesses, including expert witnesses, *or* for oral submissions.

[emphasis added]

The dispute was whether the word "or" in the last part of r 28.1 should be read disjunctively such that the arbitrator could decide whether to hold a hearing for the presentation of evidence *or* only for oral submissions, which was what the arbitrator had effectively done.

The Judge found that r 28.1 did not allow the arbitrator to decide on its own accord to hold a documents-only arbitration where parties did not agree to do so (Judgment at [63]). The Judge also held that the rule does not support the Bank's assertion that the arbitrator had wide-ranging witness-gating powers such that he could reject all of the Buyer's witnesses by deciding to only allow a hearing for oral *submissions*. When read holistically, r 28.1 did *not* mean that oral submissions were an *alternative* to the presentation of witness evidence. Rather, where parties have not agreed to a documents-only arbitration, they must be allowed to call witnesses to give evidence, if they wish to do so. Further, the Judge acknowledged that under r 25.1 of the SCMA Rules, the arbitrator has general and broadly worded case management powers. However, this did not allow the arbitrator to gate *all* of the Buyer's witnesses, as the Buyer had argued. In the Judge's view, those procedural powers are not unfettered and must be balanced against the rules of natural justice (Judgment at [76]).

Given the centrality of the purported oral settlement agreement to the Buyer's defence to the Bank's claim, the Judge was satisfied that there was a sufficiently serious breach of the fair hearing rule (Judgment at [81]). Neither r 28.1 nor the general case management powers under r 25 allowed the arbitrator to deny the Buyer its right to call its witnesses. The arbitrator had misapprehended the SCMA Rules in this regard (Judgment at [88]–[91]). In absence of the witness testimony, the arbitrator had rejected the Buyer's claims of a subsequent oral agreement in its entirety. Therefore, the breach of the fair hearing rule was directly connected to the making of the Final Award (Judgment at [93]).

- Finally, the Judge found that there was some actual or real prejudice caused to the Buyer as a result of the arbitrator's decision to shut out all of its witness evidence. Whilst the Judge noted that the documentary evidence *prima facie* supports the Bank's claim, he highlighted that the Buyer's defence based on a subsequent oral agreement *could* supersede the documentary evidence (Judgment at [98]–[99]). He also noted that cll 19 and 20 in the Second Agreement did not foreclose the Buyer's defence since it is possible for parties to have agreed to dispense with those formalities (Judgment at [101]). For the above reasons, the Judge set aside the Final Award in its entirety for breach of natural justice.
- In the circumstances, the Judge did not consider it necessary to address the alternative jurisdictional ground for setting aside or whether the Buyer might be precluded from raising it in the first place at this stage (at [104]).

# The parties' cases on appeal

The key issue on appeal centred on whether the grounds for setting aside the Final Award for breach of natural justice were made out.

### The appellant

- The Bank's main argument is that, even taking the Buyer's case at its highest, the alleged breach of natural justice did not or could not prejudice the Buyer. This is because the Buyer's defence based on the purported oral agreement was unlikely to succeed and could not have made a difference to the arbitrator's deliberations. The Bank argues that it is unclear whether the Buyer's defence is that at the December 2015 meeting, there was a mere agreement to review the price of the coal or that parties actually agreed on a lower price of US\$61 per MT. In any event, the arbitrator had considered the Buyer's defence in the Final Award and had properly rejected it.
- The Bank submits that the Judge erred in concluding that there had been a breach of natural justice in the first place. This is because it cannot be said that the arbitrator had acted "irrationally or capriciously" or that his direction falls outside the "range or what a reasonable and fair-minded tribunal in those circumstances might have done", citing Soh Beng Tee & Co Pte Ltd v Fairmount Development Pte Ltd [2007] 3 SLR(R) 86 ("Soh Beng Tee") and China Machine New Energy Corp v Jaguar Energy Guatemala LLC and another [2020] 1 SLR 695 ("China Machine"). The Bank highlights that the arbitrator's direction came about only as a last resort because of the Buyer's persistent non-compliance and

Appellant's Case ("AC"), para 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> AC, para 32.

disregard for the arbitral process.<sup>19</sup> In such a case, a margin of deference ought to be afforded to the arbitrator if there were doubts as to his exercise of broad case management powers.<sup>20</sup> Moreover, the Judge had misinterpreted rr 28.1 and 25 of the SCMA Rules as to whether the arbitrator had procedural powers to "gate" witnesses.<sup>21</sup>

- The Bank also argues that there is no causal connection between the alleged breach and the making of the Final Award since such breach, if any, was the result of the Buyer's dilatory tactics at the arbitration.<sup>22</sup>
- Finally, even if the entirety of the Buyer's defence was accepted, it was only a *partial* defence as it would only have reduced the overall contract price payable given that the dispute between the parties related only to price and not liability.<sup>23</sup> Thus, the Final Award should have been set aside partially or remitted back to the arbitrator pursuant to Art 34(4) of the UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration ("Model Law"), notwithstanding that neither application was made before the Judge.

### The respondent

The Buyer affirms the Judgment below that there was a breach of natural justice. It highlights that the arbitrator knew of the significance and correct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> AC, para 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> AC, paras 78 to 79.

AC, para 80.

AC, para 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> AC, para 53.

interpretation of r 28.1 of the SCMA Rules but yet chose to ignore it.<sup>24</sup> On the Judge's holistic interpretation of the rule, unless parties agree otherwise, an oral hearing for the presentation of witnesses is mandatory.<sup>25</sup> Thus, the arbitrator's request for the witness statements before determining whether the proceeding should be documents-only or an oral hearing was *ultra vires*.<sup>26</sup> As to the arbitral power of witness-gating, the SCMA Rules has no express provisions as such, and in any case, those powers, if they are to be implied, must be balanced against considerations of natural justice.<sup>27</sup> The decision to deny all of the Buyer's witnesses the opportunity to give evidence resulted in prejudice to it since the Buyer was deprived the opportunity to adduce evidence and make arguments on the December 2015 meeting. This could have made a difference to the Final Award.<sup>28</sup>

The Buyer argues that the Final Award cannot be partially set aside as suggested by the Bank since the breach of natural justice was egregious.<sup>29</sup> There is also no legal or factual basis for remission back to the arbitrator at this stage.

#### **Issues**

The primary issue before us is whether there has been a breach of natural justice in the making of the Final Award. An applicant who wishes to set aside an arbitral award on this basis must establish: (a) which rule of natural justice

Respondent's Case ("RC"), para 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> RC, para 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> RC, para 40.

<sup>27</sup> RC, para 46.

<sup>28</sup> RC, para 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> RC, para 76.

was breached; (b) how it was breached; (c) in what way the breach was connected with the making of the award; and (d) how the breach prejudiced its rights: *Soh Beng Tee* at [29]. The relevant rule of natural justice here is the right of a party to be given a full opportunity of presenting its case, and, in particular, the opportunity of responding to the case against it: *Soh Beng Tee* at [42].

- The sub-issues that fall for determination are therefore:
  - (a) Whether, in breach of the rules of natural justice, the Buyer was not afforded a full opportunity of responding to the Bank's claim.
  - (b) If so, whether that breach affected the Final Award.
  - (c) If so, whether that breach prejudiced the Buyer's rights, in that the material which it did not get to present could reasonably have made a difference to the arbitrator (*L W Infrastructure Pte Ltd v Lim Chin San Contractors Pte Ltd and another appeal* [2013] 1 SLR 125 ("*L W Infrastructure*") at [54]).
- As mentioned, the Buyer also raised an alternative ground in its setting aside application whether the arbitrator had jurisdiction to hear the dispute, which in turns rests on whether there was a valid assignment of the arbitration clause in the Second Agreement to the Bank. In the light of our findings on the ground of breach of natural justice explained below, it is not necessary for us to address this alternative ground, which in any case was not seriously pursued.

# Breach of natural justice

The key principles for setting aside an arbitral award on the ground of breach of natural justice were reiterated in our recent decision in *China Machine* at [87]–[104].

- It is uncontroversial that the parties' right to be heard in legal proceedings is a fundamental rule of natural justice. In the arbitral context, the rule finds expression in Art 18 of the Model Law, which provides that each party shall have a "full opportunity" of presenting its case. The "full opportunity" of presenting one's case is not an unlimited one and must be balanced against considerations of reasonableness, efficiency and fairness: *China Machine* at [96]–[97]; *ADG and another v ADI and another matter* [2014] 3 SLR 481 at [105]. In this connection, it has been noted that the threshold for finding a breach of natural justice is a high one, and hence courts would be slow to intervene in cases of technical and inconsequential breaches. At the same time however, where the conduct of proceedings clearly violates the rules of natural justice, the arbitral award that is rendered as a result may be annulled under Art 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Model Law and/or s 24(b) of the International Arbitration Act (Cap 143A, 2002 Rev Ed) ("IAA").
- What constitutes a "full opportunity" can only be meaningfully assessed within the specific context of the particular facts and circumstances of the complaint (*Triulzi Cesare SRL v Xinyi Group (Glass) Co Ltd* [2015] 1 SLR 114 ("*Triulzi*") at [125]). The overarching inquiry is whether the proceedings were conducted in a fair manner. The question is whether "what the tribunal did (or decided not to do) falls within the range of what a reasonable and fair-minded tribunal in those circumstances might have done": *China Machine* at [98]. In

asking that question, the court places itself in the position of the tribunal at the material time. The corollary to that is twofold. First, the tribunal's decisions can only be assessed by reference to what was known to the tribunal at the time, and hence the alleged breach of natural justice must have been brought to the attention of the tribunal at the material time. Secondly, the court will accord a margin of deference to the tribunal in matters of procedure and will not intervene simply because it might have done things differently. We turn now to consider each sub-issue for making out a case of breach of natural justice.

#### Whether there was breach

The first question that arises is whether there is a breach of the rules of natural justice. The determination of this first question turns on the interpretation of r 28.1 of the SCMA Rules. For context, we reproduce r 28 of the SCMA Rules in full:

# 28. Hearings

- 28.1. **Unless the parties have agreed** on a documents-only arbitration or that no hearing should be held, **the Tribunal shall hold a hearing** for the presentation of evidence by witnesses, including expert witnesses, **or** for oral submissions.
- 28.2. The Tribunal shall fix the date, time and place of any meetings and hearings in the arbitration, and shall give the parties reasonable notice thereof.
- 28.3. Prior to the hearing, the Tribunal may provide the parties with a list of matters or questions to which it wishes them to give special consideration.
- 28.4. In the event that a party to the proceedings, without sufficient cause, fails to appear at a hearing of which the notice has been given, the Tribunal may proceed with the arbitration and make the Award.
- 28.5. All meetings and hearings shall be in private unless the parties agree otherwise.

[emphasis added]

It cannot be gainsaid that arbitrations held under the SCMA Rules are governed by its fairly comprehensive provisions. Rule 28, as the heading states, deals with "Hearings". On a plain reading, it is apparent that r 28 is concerned with the general conduct and modalities of the arbitral hearing. The opening words of r 28.1 make clear that the tribunal must hold a hearing unless the parties have agreed to a documents-only arbitration or that no hearing shall be held. Absent such agreement by the parties, the tribunal "shall hold a hearing" for the presentation of evidence by witnesses, including expert witnesses. What can be queried however is what exactly the following phrase "or for oral submissions" entails.

- The Bank argues that r 28.1 allows the tribunal to decide whether to allow the hearing for the presentation of witnesses *or* for oral submissions; the word "or" is read disjunctively and the two options are, in effect, mutually exclusive. The Buyer in turn contends that the rule is to be read holistically such that where a party requests that there be a hearing of oral evidence from witnesses, the tribunal is obliged to allow it (subject to certain limits as discussed below), and cannot decide to convene a hearing only for oral submissions instead.
- The Judge agreed with the Buyer's contention. We agree with the Judge's holistic interpretation of r 28.1 and his citation (at [64]) of the commentary in Simon Davidson (SCMA Head of Procedure Committee), Commentary on the 3rd Edition of the Rules of SCMA (21 October 2015):

Unless the parties have agreed documents only, the Tribunal shall hold a hearing for the presentation of evidence by witnesses. However, the testimony of witnesses can be submitted in written form and the Tribunal may place such weight on the written testimony as it thinks fit, in particular if the witness does not attend the hearing to give oral evidence...

### [emphasis added]

56 In our view, r 28.1 provides for two situations where a hearing need not be held. First, where the parties have agreed to a documents-only arbitration, ie, that the dispute will be determined based on documentary evidence only, without witness testimony, whether oral or written. This situation is purely concerned with the type of evidence that may be led. Secondly, where the parties agree that there no hearing shall be held, ie, no hearing will be held even for oral submissions with the matter being decided based purely on documents and written submissions. The latter part of r 28.1 – holding a hearing "for the presentation of evidence by witnesses, including expert witnesses, or for oral submissions" [emphasis added] - is thus made clear. Unless the parties have agreed on a documents-only arbitration, meaning that unless they have agreed to dispense with evidence from witnesses in any form (which was plainly not the case here), the tribunal shall hold a hearing for the presentation of evidence by witnesses, including expert witnesses. Unless the parties have agreed that no hearing shall be held, ie, unless they have agreed to dispense even with oral submissions, then a hearing shall be held for oral submissions.

R 28.1 therefore sets out two broad types of agreements the parties may make and of course the precise form of the hearing depends very much on the extent of the parties' agreement (see Judgment at [66] and [67]). There can be various permutations. It is thus open to the parties to agree that the reference proceeds only on documents, agreed facts and agreed issues with written submissions and without the need for a hearing; or the parties may agree to have witness statements in addition to the documents, but without cross-examination and a hearing only for submissions. The parties may even agree no cross-examination of factual witnesses but allow for cross-examination of expert

witnesses in appropriate cases. In the more complex cases, the reference will probably proceed with pleadings, documents, witness statements (both factual and expert), cross-examination and written and/or oral submissions. These are but some permutations along which a reference can proceed and procedural flexibility is one of the great strengths of arbitration. However, r 28.1 has to be read as a whole and it does not give the tribunal the power to choose what type of hearing to hold in the absence of an agreement. This coheres with the basic fact that the parties are allowed (within certain limits, see [49] – [51] above and from [58] below on the tribunal's case management powers) to decide what evidence they want to lead. The Buyer here was unequivocal in requesting a hearing for the presentation of oral evidence as to what transpired at the December 2015 meeting and the Buyer was acting within its legal rights to do so.

Contrary to the Bank's suggestions,<sup>30</sup> none of this means that an arbitral tribunal is helpless or impotent in managing the case and regulating the evidentiary process. Even in arbitral rules such as the SCMA Rules which contain no express witness-gating provisions, it is commonplace to find provisions conferring broad case management powers upon a tribunal. Rule 25 of the SCMA Rules provides:

# 25. Conduct of the Proceedings

25.1. The Tribunal shall have the widest discretion *allowed by the Act* (where the seat of the arbitration is Singapore) or the applicable law (where the seat of the arbitration is outside Singapore) to ensure the *just, expeditious, economical and final determination of the dispute.* 

25.2. Subject to these Rules, it shall be for the Tribunal to decide the arbitration procedure, including all procedural and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> AC, para 9.

evidential matters subject to the right of the parties to agree to any matter.

25.3. Unless the parties agree that the reference is ready to proceed to an Award on the exclusive basis of the written submissions that have already been served, both parties must complete the Questionnaire set out in Schedule A...

[emphasis added in italics]

The Bank relied heavily on r 25 in support of its argument that the arbitrator had not breached the rules of natural justice. Apart from rr 25.1 and 25.2, the Bank highlights that questions 7 and 8 of the Questionnaire referred to in r 25.3 respectively asks "whether the arbitration will be a documents-only arbitration or whether an oral hearing is required?" and "what statement evidence is it intended to adduce and by when; and (if there is to be a hearing) what oral evidence will be adduced?"<sup>31</sup>

However, we do not think the questions in the Questionnaire at Schedule A of the SCMA Rules are of much assistance to the Bank. The Questionnaire calls for "Information to be provided as required in Rule 25" in all cases other than cases where the parties *agree* that the reference is ready to proceed on the exclusive basis of written submissions that have already been served. It is not a rule empowering the tribunal to dispense with a hearing where one party is asking for a hearing. The Questionnaire is akin to a checklist of items to assist parties by addressing their minds to certain procedural issues which will help to streamline the arbitral process towards a just, expeditious and economical resolution. If anything at all, Question 7 is consistent with our construction of r 28.1 in referring to two broad approaches, *viz*, a documents-only arbitration or whether an oral hearing is required. Question 8 then moves on to ask about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> AC, para 62.

statement evidence intended to be adduced and timelines and if there is to be a hearing, what oral evidence will be adduced. Question 9 asks about the expert evidence and Question 10 deals with the length of the hearing. Question 11 asks which witnesses of fact and experts are likely to called at the hearing. Such questions bear unmistakable resemblance to items set out for consideration in case management conferences.

61 We have little difficulty accepting that tribunals have the power to limit the oral examination of witnesses as part of their general case management powers. This can occur when the evidence from multiple witnesses are repetitive or of little or no relevance to the issues. This much is also envisioned by Art 19(2) of the Model Law. However, r 25.1 cannot be an unfettered power that overrides the rules of natural justice. This is evident from the plain language of the provision itself. The "widest discretion" afforded to the tribunal is that "allowed" by the IAA and s 24(b) of the IAA specifically provides that an award rendered in breach of the rules of natural justice by which a party's rights have been prejudiced is liable to be set aside. More generally, this discretion in r 25.1 is tethered to the "just, expeditious, economical and final" [emphasis added] disposal of the matter. It is in this context that r 25.2, which is expressly subject to the rest of the SCMA Rules, should be understood. This point is made explicitly in Judith Levine, "Can arbitrators choose who to call as witnesses? (And what can be done if they don't show up?)" in Albert Jan Van den Berg (ed), Legitimacy: Myths, Realities, Challenges (Kluwer Law International, 2015) as follows:

Most commentators acknowledge that the authority to limit witness testimony 'must be tempered by a tribunal's duty to afford the parties a fair opportunity to present their case'. Some are more restrictive in their approach than others. For example, Bernard Hanotiau expects that 'it would be very unusual for an arbitral tribunal to decide not to hear a witness,

notwithstanding the request of a party to present it, unless the testimony of the said witness were deemed to be manifestly irrelevant'.

According to Bühler and Dorgan, the requirement to treat the parties equally and allow them a reasonable opportunity to present their case means that, in practice, tribunals will hear virtually any witnesses whom the parties wish to present, although the arbitrators may actively exercise their power to limit witness testimony and/or to limit the testimony of a witness to a particular subject. The perceived safer option seems to be to wait and see what the witness has to say, and then decide only after hearing the witness that the testimony added nothing of value to the record. Rubino-Sammartano disapproves of the practice of limiting the number of witnesses with a view to saving time because, except in special situations, the arbitrator is not in a position to assess, before hearing the witnesses, whether one or more of them will be necessary.

[emphasis added]

- Decided cases have also stated that the broad procedural powers of an arbitral tribunal are subject to the fundamental rules of natural justice (see, for example, *Anwar Siraj and another v Ting Kang Chung and another* [2003] 2 SLR(R) 287 ("*Anwar Siraj*") at [41], which was cited with approval in *Soh Beng Tee* at [60]). As the Judge noted (Judgment at [72]–[76]), a number of decisions including *Dalmia Dairy Industries Ltd v National Bank of Pakistan* [1978] 2 Lloyd's Rep 223 ("*Dalmia*") and *Triulzi*, have also acknowledged the same. The Bank has relied on both these cases but its reliance thereon is misplaced.
- In *Dalmia*, the plaintiff, an Indian company, sold certain cement factories upon certain conditions to a buyer in Pakistan. The defendant bank guaranteed the obligations of the buyer under a guarantee that was expressed, in effect, to be unconditional and irrevocable, to subsist if the buyer failed to fulfil its obligations and even if the buyer's obligations under the sale and purchase agreement should be discharged by operation of law. When the buyer defaulted, the plaintiff commenced an arbitration against the defendant bank

and secured an award in its favour. One of the grounds upon which the defendant bank resisted enforcement of the award was that there had been a breach of the principles of natural justice when the arbitrator exercised his discretion to decline to hear any oral evidence (Dalmia at 269). During the arbitration, the defendant bank had applied for leave to call witnesses. After receiving the indications as to the relevance and purpose of the witness evidence, the arbitrator rejected the defendant's request on the basis of his discretion under the Rules of Conciliation and Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce (the "ICC Rules") and the rules of the local procedure that governed the arbitration. In the final award, the arbitrator concluded that it was "completely unnecessary" to hear the witnesses which the defendant had requested; he ruled that "... both parties have had more than ample opportunity to present and argue the case, orally as well as in writing ... The dispute being essentially, and indeed exclusively, of a legal nature." The main issues related to Indian law, jurisdiction, whether a state of war between India and Pakistan had come into existence in or around 1965 and whether the common law on "trading with the enemy" applied to India and related issues of illegality.

Both the English High Court and the Court of Appeal rejected the Bank's challenge on the grounds of breach of natural justice. It noted, amongst other things, that Art 20 of the ICC Rules merely provides that the arbitrator "shall have the power to hear witnesses", *ie*, that this is a discretion, not an obligation (at 270). Moreover, the court also went on to cite the following passage of Shanbhu Dayal Singh's Law of Arbitration at p 375 with approval (as the Judge below also noted at [73] of the Judgment):

Refusal to examine witnesses. Whether the arbitrators should or should not hear evidence and the parties, must depend on the particular circumstances in every case; and the arbitrators should exercise their discretion in a

**judicial manner.** If the reference be such that the arbitrators cannot decide the dispute without hearing evidence, the refusal to hear evidence will amount to misconduct. Refusal on the part of the arbitrator to examine witnesses for a party is judicial misconduct warranting the court to set aside the award ... Where, however, there is nothing to show that the arbitrator was not acting within his powers and where in the exercise of a prudent and wise discretion he declined to summon the witness, or where the evidence was unnecessary and would not have in any way influenced the decision of the arbitrators, the awards were upheld.

[emphasis added in bold italics]

65 The Bank in the present case relies on Dalmia to argue that national courts have expressly recognised a tribunal's power to gate witnesses even where the arbitral rules, such as the ICC Rules, do not contain such an express provision.<sup>32</sup> However, the exercise of the witness-gating power must be considered in the context of the facts in Dalmia. The issues there were almost exclusively legal in nature and factual evidence from witnesses would not have assisted in arriving at or affecting the outcome. The one factual issue, the form and content of *Dalmia's* despatch instructions to the buyer to deliver cement, which formed part of the consideration under the sale and purchase agreement, though challenged before the arbitrator, was no longer pursued before the court during the enforcement proceedings. The decision in Dalmia was, with respect, correctly decided given the facts of the case and the issues before the arbitrator. It is not inconsistent with our explanation above that even if a witness-gating power can be implied from the general case management powers of a tribunal, it is difficult to envision a scenario where they should not be weighed against the rules of natural justice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> AC, para 83(2).

66 The second case, *Triulzi*, is similarly of no assistance to the Bank. On the contrary, in that case, Belinda Ang Saw Ean J held that despite the broad and flexible case management powers conferred upon the tribunal by the International Chamber of Commerce Rules of Arbitration 2012 and the International Bar Association Rules on the Taking of Evidence in International Arbitration, the exercise of such powers is subject to the rules of natural justice, which includes the right to be heard (at [128]–[131] citing Anwar Siraj and Soh Beng Tee). The plaintiff (respondent in the arbitration) applied to set aside the award on the ground, inter alia, that it was not afforded a reasonable opportunity to be heard in calling an expert witness to meet the expert evidence of the defendant (claimant in the arbitration). When one examines the facts more closely, it becomes evident that the plaintiff's complaint was without any basis whatsoever. Pursuant to a procedural timetable, the defendant duly filed its witness statements but included that of an expert witness. The plaintiff objected, asking for the expert's statement to be excluded, on the basis that there was an agreement to exclude expert witnesses, or that in the alternative, the plaintiff be afforded an opportunity to file one too. The arbitrator replied that his case management note contained no record of such an agreement (at [31]-[32]). After a further exchange of correspondence, on 5 April 2013, the arbitrator directed that the plaintiff was to file its expert statement by 15 April 2013 and admitted the defendant's expert report (at [34]). On 12 April 2013, the plaintiff complained that it did not have sufficient time to file its expert report and attempted to vacate the hearing dates, which had been fixed for 22 to 25 April 2013. On 16 April 2013, the arbitrator gave the parties further directions and stated that the hearing dates would not be vacated. When the hearing commenced, the defendant called two factual witnesses and its expert witness. On the last day of the hearing, and after the defendant's expert had given

evidence, the plaintiff applied to submit the report of its expert. The arbitrator refused to admit the defendant's expert report (at [43]).

- It is not surprising that the court rejected the plaintiff's complaint that the award was in breach of the fair hearing rule and refused to set aside the award. Ang J dismissed this ground of challenge and the application for setting aside the award. In discussing the relevant principles, it was expressly noted that whilst the tribunal is the master of its own procedure, it is subject to the rules of natural justice (at [131]). Ang J found that none of the tribunal's procedural orders or directions could be criticised since the tribunal had properly taken into account a myriad of factors and notably, the circumstances were actually the result of the plaintiff's own doing in so far as it had omitted to disclose the full extent of its need for its expert before the tribunal (at [111], [141] and [155]).
- It is apparent that the facts of *Triulzi* are quite different from the present case. As noted above, the Buyer here was unequivocal in its insistence on presenting oral witness evidence and the arbitrator was not unaware of this. Whilst due latitude will be given to an arbitral tribunal to control the proceedings before it, in the final analysis, the tribunal must weigh the laudable desire for efficient and effectual arbitral proceedings against the necessity of affording parties their right to be heard. The fundamental nature of the rules of natural justice means that they must not be sacrificed in the name of efficacy and due weight must be afforded to those rules. It is self-evident that this balance is not amenable to prescriptive rules and each case will turn on its precise facts and circumstances.
- Furthermore, it seems to us that the effect of accepting the Bank's disjunctive interpretation of r 28.1 is to confer a broad and unqualified power

on the tribunal with respect to witness-gating when this power is not expressly contained in the SCMA Rules. This is unlike the express witness-gating provisions found in other arbitral rules such as the London Maritime Arbitrators Association Terms (2017) and the International Bar Association Rules on the Taking of Evidence in International Arbitration (2010) (as noted in the Judgment at [68]).

70 In the present case, the arbitrator had directed on 20 July 2018 as follows:<sup>33</sup>

...Pursuant to SCMA Rule 28.1 the final hearing shall be limited **to oral submissions only**. There will be no witnesses presented at the final hearing as [the Buyer] has failed to provide witness statements or any evidence of the substantive value of presenting witnesses. The final hearing shall not be used as an evidentiary mechanism. [emphasis added]

The arbitrator was clearly alive to the fact that he could not hold a documents-only arbitration without the agreement of the parties (see his email dated 20 July 2018 referred to above).<sup>34</sup> However, perhaps somewhat exasperated with the uncooperative attitude of the Buyer, the arbitrator wrongly interpreted r 28.1 as requiring an oral hearing but where he could, at his discretion, hear either evidence or legal arguments. The arbitrator had no power in this case to impose a condition that a party could be required to show that its evidence had "substantive value" before he decided whether to allow it being adduced into the evidence through an oral hearing or to disallow it (see [21] above). It is clear to us that the arbitrator's directions in excluding the entirety of the Buyer's witness evidence is a material breach of the rules of natural

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CB Vol (III), p 101.

CB Vol (III), p 101; Final Award, para.62(a).

justice. As noted above, r 28.1 does not confer on the arbitrator the power to summarily and effectively exclude all the Buyer's witnesses from giving evidence at the hearing. The Buyer had made the purpose and the importance of the seven witnesses it intended to call sufficiently clear – their evidence was to prove what transpired during the December 2015 meeting – and in particular, whether the Buyer and Seller had agreed to a reduction of the sums owed for the sale of coal. The material portions of the Buyer's defence and counterclaim (*ie*, the "reply on merits") bear quoting at some length:

16. It is submitted herein that the terms of the contract formed over the email dated 18.11.2014 and 19.11.2014 were therein agreed and promised by [the Seller] in its meeting in around 2.12.2015 to be reviewed and modified to include the reduced coal price for the coal supply. It was also agreed to have the new coal price for the entire 50000 MT of coal and not just the 20000 MT of coal and upon agreeing to a mutually reviewed price the payments shall be made or adjusted. However as submitted, [the Seller] reneged on these promises and representations and agreement on reduced price.

...

- 18. Without prejudice it is submitted that [the Buyer] being a responsible company has never denied its liability to pay for any goods which it purchases. However, the price which has to be paid is a matter between the parties ... and it is the price which is seriously disputed between [the Buyer] and [the Seller] as it is the entire case of the respondent that officials of [the Seller], namely ... on 2.12.2015 at ... wherein they had specifically agreed that since there had been decrease in the price of coal, therefore, they shall be reviewing the contract price and the mutually agreed price shall then be payable. It is submitted that telephonic discussions were also held between the officials of [the Buyer] and ... of [the Seller] for reviewing the coal price and accordingly reducing the same.
- 19. It was specific admission [sic] on the part of the officials of [the Seller] that the contracted coal price shall be suitably modified to take into account the reduced coal prices that [the Buyer] took delivery of the 15000 MT of coal. It is submitted that [the Seller] had also agreed to a price of 61\$ per MT during the meetings however it later reneged on the same. However as disputes arose the Delivery Order for the balance

5000 MT of coal was not given by [the Seller] and the said quantity is still present at the port in India and [the Buyer] is being issued notices for demurrage and wharfage. It is submitted that it was [the Seller] which has misled, breached and defaulted [the Buyer] when it specifically agreed in the personal meetings that it shall review coal price and also agreed to a new coal price during the meeting of 61\$ per MT and then later reneged on its representation and promise and agreement.

[emphasis added]

- 72 The relevant parts of the Buyer's answers to the Questionnaire filed in the arbitration state as follows:
  - 7. Whether the arbitration will be a documents-only arbitration or whether an oral hearing is required?

Oral Hearing is necessary and also as evidence is to be adduced and examined of the individuals mentioned in the list of witness [sic].

8. What statement evidence is it intended to adduce and by when; and (if there is to be a hearing) what oral evidence will be adduced?

The individuals mentioned in the list of witness [sic] have to be examined and evidenced [sic] adduced with respect to the submissions made by the Respondent in its defence.

We acknowledge that from a review of the e-mail correspondence between the parties (see above at [19]–[26]) as well as the answers to the Questionnaire set out above, the Buyer had been rather oblique in explaining the purpose of calling the witnesses despite being asked several times to clarify its position on this. Nevertheless, we are satisfied that the Buyer's defence on this issue, as set out above, had disclosed sufficient facts that gave the Bank notice as to what the Buyer's material allegations were in respect of the December 2015 meeting. While we also accept that the Buyer's defence is not a model of clarity as to what the terms of the agreement (if any) were, we note that the Buyer had listed in its defence the specific names of individuals that

attended the said meeting, which matches the list of witnesses submitted by the Buyer to the tribunal.<sup>35</sup> Therefore, generally what the evidence of the witnesses would entail was not unknown.

In these circumstances, we do not think it can be counted against the Buyer that it refused to furnish the witness statements requested by the arbitrator. The Buyer was faced with a veritable Hobson's choice: on the one hand, the arbitrator had repeatedly insisted on the witness statements to decide whether to convene an oral hearing; on the other hand, if it had acceded to the arbitrator's request, it might be taken to have agreed with the arbitrator that he had the power to decide whether or not to deny their request for a hearing of the witness testimony. On 4 July 2018, the arbitrator wrote to the parties essentially issuing an ultimatum to the Buyer:

... [the Buyer] has not directly address three outstanding items, (i) providing written statements from each of the witnesses Respondent plans to call should there be an oral hearing and (ii) a brief by [the Buyer] regarding what constitutes 'breach of natural justice' under the laws of Singapore ...

Unless I have definitive responses to each of these outstanding items by end of business Singapore time 5 July 2018, I will consider [the Buyer's] actions to mean [the Buyer] waives any right to submit witnesses in the event of an oral hearing, [the Buyer] chooses not to brief me on its understanding of what constitutes a breach of natural justice under the laws of Singapore and is happy for me to rely solely on [the Bank's] brief on the subject and [the Buyer] no longer wishes to pursue its counterclaim.

Counsel, please consider my next direction very carefully and I direct you discuss this with [the Buyer], I will not tolerate another '11th hour' change of mind ...

[emphasis added]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CB Vol III, p 51.

For avoidance of doubt, as alluded to earlier, the arbitrator was entitled to request witness statements as is contemplated in r 30.5 of the SCMA Rules:

Subject to such order or direction which the Tribunal may make, the testimony of witnesses may be presented in written form, either as signed statements or by duly sworn/affirmed affidavits. If a witness does not attend the hearing to give oral evidence, the Tribunal may place such weight on his written testimony as it thinks fit.

However, it is clear to us that the arbitrator's direction for witness statements issued on 1 June 2018 was *not* simply for the purpose of "facilitating the adducing of witness testimony and the presentation of evidence at the oral hearing" (Judgment at [90]). If that had been the intention, the arbitrator's directions might be warranted if the Buyer failed to comply. It is clear from the correspondence that even up till 4 July 2018, the arbitrator was still proceeding on the mistaken premise that he could decide between whether to hold a documents-only arbitration or an oral hearing only for submissions (see [74] above).

The Bank suggests in its written submissions that it is *de rigueur* for the tribunal to decide whether to hear witnesses after a review of witness statements in international arbitrations.<sup>36</sup> Even if we accept that it is customary for arbitral tribunals to determine whether or not to hear a witness based on their witness statements, that does not assist the Bank's case here. Rule 28.1 of the SCMA Rules, as we have explained above, is sufficiently clear as to when an oral hearing is necessary. Rule 30.5 does not change the analysis. Rule 30.5 simply envisions the scenario where a written witness statement may be considered as part of the evidence as a substitute to oral evidence, *if* the witness does not attend

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> AC, para 77.

the hearing for whatever reason. To the extent that there might be any apparent inconsistency between the SCMA Rules and what the Bank postulates to be *de rigueur* (a question on which we make no determination), primacy must be given the express rules agreed upon by the parties.

78 None of the foregoing should be taken as suggesting that the court is countenancing any dilatory tactics on the part of the Buyer. It is not lost on us that the Buyer's conduct of the arbitration was less than cooperative, to say the least. However, the conduct of such reluctant respondents, when they are acting within their rights, does not furnish any legal defence against a setting-aside application. As the Judge was at pains to explain, perhaps a better route which the arbitrator should have taken in the premises, was to fix a hearing for the presentation of the Buyer's witness evidence and at the same time, ask for the witness statements from the Buyer (even then, this would probably not have included the evidence from the Sellers and the person from the trade credit insurance entity). At the hearing, the arbitrator can, as he sees fit, manage the evidentiary process by for instance, limiting the amount of time for individual witnesses, as he is entitled to under the case management powers in r 25.1 of the SCMA Rules (Judgment at [92]). Where the arbitrator fell into error was by suggesting that whether a hearing for witness testimony would be convened would be determined based on the Buyer's witness statements, which had to be submitted beforehand. As we have noted above, this was not an option open to the Arbitrator to pursue. For these reasons, we are unable to accept the Bank's submission before us that the arbitrator's conduct fell within the "range or what a reasonable and fair-minded tribunal in those circumstances might have done": China Machine at [98].

We are therefore satisfied that the arbitrator's denial of the *entirety* of the witness evidence from the Buyer constitutes a breach of natural justice. Whilst it is correct that the courts would generally accord a margin of deference to the tribunal's decisions, especially on procedural matters, this is a clear case of a serious breach of the rules of natural justice and to decide otherwise would be to reduce the content of those rules to a vanishing point.

## Whether the breach affected Final Award

- The second question is whether the above breach is directly connected to the making of the Final Award. The Bank's main argument on this point is that such a breach was the result of the Buyer's own dilatory actions. Hence, it submits that there is no causal link between the breach and the Final Award.
- In our judgment, this argument is without merit and we have no difficulty dismissing it. The real cause for the arbitrator's direction was a misapprehension of his powers under the SCMA Rules. Whilst it is acknowledged that the Buyer's conduct in the arbitration left much to be desired, it cannot be said to be in violation of the SCMA Rules or to be the real cause of the breach. The arbitrator's direction resulted in the gating of *all* seven of the Buyer's witnesses. According to the Buyer, six of these witnesses were present at the disputed December 2015 meeting, where purportedly, an oral agreement had been reached to lower the price of the coal or at least, to consider reviewing it. In disallowing the witness evidence, the arbitrator breached the fair hearing rule and went on to find the Buyer liable for the entire sum claimed by the Bank based on the original contract price.
- 82 Therefore, we are satisfied that this breach of the fair hearing rule directly affected the Final Award.

## Whether the Buyer was prejudiced

- Finally, the question which remains is whether the breach of natural justice resulted in any prejudice to the Buyer. As a starting point, the following observations on the requirement of prejudice in *Soh Beng Tee* at [91]–[92] bear quoting:
  - ... It appears to us that in Singapore, an applicant will have to persuade the court that there has been some actual or real prejudice caused by the alleged breach. While this is obviously a lower hurdle than substantial prejudice, it certainly does not embrace technical or procedural irregularities that have caused no harm in the final analysis. There must be more than technical unfairness. It is neither desirable nor possible to predict the infinite range of factual permutations or imponderables that may confront the courts in the future. What we can say is that to attract curial intervention it must be established that the breach of the rules of natural justice must, at the very least, have actually altered the final outcome of the arbitral proceedings in some meaningful way. If, on the other hand, the same result could or would ultimately have been attained, or if it can be shown that the complainant could not have presented any ground-breaking evidence and/or submissions regardless, the bare fact that the arbitrator might have inadvertently denied one or both parties some technical aspect of a fair hearing would almost invariably be insufficient to set aside the award.
  - 92 In addition, assuming that the breach is in respect of only a single isolated or stand-alone issue or point, it would normally not be sensible or appropriate to set aside the entire award. Instead, the policy of minimal curial intervention implies that the court's focus should be on the proportionality between the harm caused by the breach and how that can be remedied

[emphasis added]

The perceived harshness of *Soh Beng Tee* on the requirement for prejudice was ameliorated somewhat in *L W Infrastructure* at [51]. There, the court stated that it is *not* the case that an applicant seeking relief must demonstrate affirmatively that a different outcome would have followed but for

the breach of natural justice. The central question is whether the breach of natural justice "was merely technical and inconsequential or whether as a result of the breach, the arbitrator was denied the benefit of arguments or evidence that had *a real as opposed to a fanciful chance of making a difference to his deliberations*": *L W Infrastructure* at [54] [emphasis added].

85 We find that the breach of natural justice resulted in prejudice to the Buyer. We accept the Bank's point that the objective documentary evidence prima facie shows that the Seller had duly delivered 20,000 MT of coal, and the Buyer and its bank had conceded its liability for the sum of US\$1,480,400 based on the original contract price (see [7]–[8] above).<sup>37</sup> However, the Buyer's defence against the Bank rests on a different footing – that is, the formation of an oral agreement subsequently in December 2015. Hence, it is plausible that the parties agreed to the reduced price of US\$61 per MT for the coal. The court's task here is not evaluate the merits of the alleged claim, which would be impermissible – the paramount question is whether the procedural defect has any material effect on the party seeking to invoke it as a ground for setting aside the arbitral award. What is required is that there be a real possibility that the deliberation and conclusion of the arbitration would be different. On the facts of the present case, the alleged oral agreement at the December 2015 meeting was a critical component of the Buyer's defence against the Bank's claim. When the witness evidence of the Buyer in relation to that meeting was shut out altogether, it is plain that the Buyer was prejudiced.

In this regard, cll 19 and 20 of the Second Agreement do not pose any real hurdle to the Buyer's defence. The two clauses state:

AC, paras 31 to 37.

19 Amendments – The Contract cannot be changed except by written instrument duly signed by legally authorised representatives of both parties.

**20 Entire Contract** – This instrument contains the entire agreement between the parties in relation to the sale and purchase of Product ... and supersedes all prior negotiations, understandings and agreements, whether written or oral, in relation to that Product. The parties shall be bound only by the express provisions of this Agreement and documents executed in the future by duly authorised representatives of the Parties.

On the face of it, the two clauses might obviate the Buyer's defence of a subsequent oral agreement. However, we agree with the Judge that they are *not* fatal to that defence since it is *possible* that parties agreed to dispense with them. In any case, that is a question that had to be determined by the tribunal when considering the Buyer's witness evidence.

87 The Bank points out in its case that the arbitrator did consider the Buyer's alleged defence and decided that the oral evidence excluded would not have made a difference.<sup>38</sup> This is a circuitous argument. Nowhere in the Final Award does the arbitrator say that the excluded oral evidence could not have made a difference to the determination. The arbitrator could not do so simply because no such evidence was adduced, a consequence which flowed directly from his mistaken directions.

The Bank also submits that there was no prejudice because of the list of witnesses furnished by the Buyer; it could not have expected those who were employees of the Seller to give any evidence to support its case concerning the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> AC, para 39.

December 2015 meeting.<sup>39</sup> This argument is clearly one that cannot get off the ground and we need say nothing further about it.

- Before we turn away from the issue of breach of natural justice, we note that counsel for the Bank argues that the Judge had impermissibly engaged in "after the event" analysis instead of considering what was contemporaneously available to the arbitrator (*China Machine* at [104(d)]).<sup>40</sup> In particular, the Bank took issue with the Judge's "careful and patient reading" of the Buyer's defence in the arbitration and the Judge's interpretation of cll 19 and 20 of the Second Agreement. With respect, it is absurd to suggest the Judge was wrong to take a careful and patient reading of the defence because implicit in this argument is that the arbitrator was not somehow obliged to do just that. If the Judge below could decipher, from the same evidence and facts that were contemporaneously before the arbitrator, the relevant factors by a careful reading of the defence, then the arbitrator will be bound to have done the same. The Bank's criticisms are without any merit.
- Therefore, we are satisfied that all the requirements for setting aside the Final Award for a breach of natural justice have been met.
- We now turn to the remaining issue of whether this Court should, as requested by the Bank, remit the Final Award back to the tribunal instead of setting aside of the Final Award.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> AC, paras 29, 44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> AC, paras 30, 49 to 52.

## The appropriate remedy

Two points of contention were raised as to whether the Final Award should be set aside. Neither of these, we emphasise, were raised before the Judge below. First, the Bank argues that the Final Award should only have been set aside *in part* since the Buyer's defence is only a partial defence; on the Buyer's pleaded case, the underlying dispute is only as to the price of the coal payable and not liability to pay the Bank altogether. Secondly, in the course of the appeal before us, the Bank applied to remit the matter back to the tribunal under Art 34(4) of the Model Law.

## Partial setting aside

The Bank argues that even if the arbitrator or the court accepts at face value the Buyer's defence of an oral agreement reducing the price of the coal, it would only reduce the overall contract price payable by some 17% on its calculation.<sup>41</sup> This much is evident from the Buyer's own defence (see [71] above).

The arbitrator found, in the absence of any witness evidence from the Buyer, that it was liable to the Bank for the entire sum of US\$1,480,400.<sup>42</sup> In our view, it is not the role of the court to apply a *pro tanto* reduction to the sum awarded by an arbitrator, which is essentially the effect of the Bank's submission for a partial setting aside. Putting aside that problem, counsel for the Bank candidly acknowledged before us that this remedy of a partial setting aside was not raised before the Judge. Hence, we do not think the Judge can be faulted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> AC, para 53.

Final Award, paras 101, 102 and 123.

for not considering this alternative. More importantly, we consider the Judge's decision to set aside the entire award to be realistic and wholly defensible. This is because if he had allowed a partial setting aside, the doctrine of merger may operate to obviate the Bank from pursuing a claim for the difference of 17% in any separate proceeding. We therefore decline to partially set aside the Final Award.

#### Remittal

- More importantly, counsel for the Bank invited this Court to consider remitting the Final Award back to the arbitrator pursuant to Art 34(4) of the Model Law. In this regard, we invited parties to address us in further submissions on two questions:
  - (a) First, whether the power of the court under Art 34(4) of the Model Law to order a remittal of an award to the arbitrator with a view to curing a breach of natural justice that affects that award is available to the Court of Appeal in circumstances where (i) the award has already been set aside by the High Court, before which no request was made for an order for remittal; and (ii) the Court of Appeal is otherwise satisfied that there has been a breach of natural justice and that the High Court's decision was correct (the "Legal Question").
  - (b) Secondly, assuming the Court of Appeal has such a power in these circumstances, whether it would be appropriate to exercise that power in this case on the request of the Bank (the "Factual Question").

# (1) The parties' submissions

- In response to the Legal Question, the Bank argues that this Court has the power to order a remittal of the Final Award at this stage notwithstanding that both the Judge below and this Court are satisfied that the ground of breach of natural justice for setting aside of the award is made out. It cites three main reasons for this submission:
  - (a) First, the relevant provisions in s 37 of the Supreme Court of Judicature Act (Cap 322, 2007 Rev Ed) ("SCJA") state that the Court of Appeal "shall have all the powers ... of the High Court" and may "make any order which ought to have given or made".<sup>43</sup>
  - (b) Secondly, the plain wording of Art 34(4) of the Model Law affords such a power of remittal. In particular, the "court" as referenced therein can refer to both the High Court and the Court of Appeal.<sup>44</sup> In this connection, the fact that the Judge in the High Court has set aside the Final Award does not deprive this court of the power to remit.<sup>45</sup>
  - (c) Thirdly, the *travaux préparatoires* to Art 34(4) highlights that the power of remittal was meant to provide a "useful device" to cure procedural defects and avoid the draconian consequence of setting aside an arbitral award.<sup>46</sup> The timing of the request for remittal is unimportant as long as it was made during the course of setting-aside proceedings.<sup>47</sup>

<sup>43</sup> Appellant's further submissions, para 3.

<sup>44</sup> Appellant's further submissions, para 7.

<sup>45</sup> Appellant's further submissions, para 10.

Appellant's further submissions, para 12.

<sup>47</sup> Appellant's further submissions, paras 15, 21.

In this vein, since remittal is simply an alternative remedy to setting aside of an award, there is nothing to suggest that the request requirement must be satisfied at the first-instance of setting aside.<sup>48</sup>

On the Factual Question, the Bank submits that this court should exercise the power of remittal.<sup>49</sup> The Bank argues that the breach in question is a discrete issue which only concerns a partial defence of price reduction resulting from the December 2015 meeting, and can be addressed by the arbitrator with relative ease. Moreover, regard must be had to the proportionality between the harm arising from the breach and the possible remedies available to a supervisory court. Setting aside the entire Final Award is a disproportionate response given the minimal prejudice to the Buyer, the length of the proceedings and the Buyer's belligerent conduct in the arbitration.<sup>50</sup> In the circumstances, the Bank submits that the Judge should have invited parties to address the question of remittal.<sup>51</sup> Nonetheless, that no request was made before the Judge below is not fatal since a request has been made in the setting aside proceedings before this Court.<sup>52</sup>

The Buyer, on the other hand, argues that this Court does not have the power to order a remittal of the Final Award under Art 34(4) of the Model Law. This is because the setting-aside proceedings before the High Court have concluded and no request for remittal was made then, as is required by the plain

<sup>48</sup> Appellant's further submissions, para 23.

<sup>49</sup> Appellant's further submissions, para 30.

Appellant's further submissions, paras 34, 37

Appellant's further submissions, para 35.

<sup>52</sup> Appellant's further submissions, para 36.

text of Art 34(4).<sup>53</sup> This, the Buyer submits, is the result of the Bank's "go-for-broke" strategy both before the tribunal and the proceedings before the High Court, where the only issue was the setting aside of the Final Award. Whilst the Court of Appeal has the discretion to hear a point that was not taken below, that should only be exercised in exceptional circumstances. In the present appeal, there are no such exceptional circumstances.<sup>54</sup> Moreover, this Court would be exercising original jurisdiction instead of appellate jurisdiction if it ordered a remittal.<sup>55</sup>

On the Factual Question, the Buyer submits that remittal is inappropriate for a number of reasons. First, the arbitrator is unfit to continue hearing the matter because there is a real likelihood that he will not be able to fairly determine the issues given the conduct and development of the case thus far.<sup>56</sup> Secondly, as there has been a serious miscarriage of justice occasioned by the breach of natural justice, the most appropriate remedy is for the Final Award to be set aside and for the dispute to be heard afresh before a new arbitrator. This is especially so since the remittal would require a full hearing.<sup>57</sup> Thirdly, given the substantial amount of time elapsed since the issuance of the Final Award on 16 November 2018, there is no benefit in terms of time and cost savings for the matter to be remitted to the same arbitrator.<sup>58</sup>

Respondent's further submissions, paras 6 to 8.

Respondent's further submissions, paras 19 to 21.

Respondent's further submissions, para 26.

Respondent's further submissions, para 40.

Respondent's further submissions, para 46.

Respondent's further submissions, para 49.

100 In any event, the Buyer notes that because the effect of remittal would essentially be to confer jurisdiction on the arbitrator, the prior question of whether the arbitrator has the requisite jurisdiction over the parties' dispute – which was the alternative ground of challenge against the Final Award apart from the breach of natural justice – must be addressed.<sup>59</sup>

- (2) Our analysis
- 101 Article 34(4) of the Model Law states:

Article 34. Application for setting aside as exclusive recourse against arbitral award

...

- (4) The **court**, **when asked to set aside an award**, **may**, where appropriate **and so requested by a party**, suspend the setting aside proceedings for a period of time determined by it in order to give the arbitral tribunal an opportunity to resume the arbitral proceedings or to take such other action as in the arbitral tribunal's opinion will eliminate the grounds for setting aside.
- In order to answer the Legal Question, the key interpretive issue is whether the "court" referred to in Art 34(4) includes the Court of Appeal. Having reviewed the parties' submissions and the secondary materials, we find that the power to remit an arbitral award back to the same tribunal is vested only in the High Court for the following reasons.
- In our view, the phrase "when asked to set aside an award", which immediately follows the opening reference to "the court" is critical. Two interrelated observations can be made here. First, it is settled that under the Model Law, the only grounds for setting aside an award are those stipulated in

Respondent's further submissions, para 34.

Art 34(2). The opening words of Art 34(2) of the Model Law stipulate that an award may be set aside "by the court specified in Article 6" on various enumerated grounds. As clearly provided in s 8(1) of the IAA, this specific court in Art 34(2) is the High Court. As a matter of construction, thereafter, whenever the phrase "the court" is used in the following paragraphs of Article 34, it must similarly mean the High Court. Secondly, in the present case, it cannot be said that the Court of Appeal is being "asked to set aside an award". We have passed that point. The Buyer succeeded in setting aside the Final Award before the High Court and now the Bank is seeking to reverse the High Court's decision. Put differently, there is no longer any award to set aside and since we have found no basis for reversing the Judge's decision below, the issue of remittal does not arise.

The above interpretation of Art 34(4) is, in our opinion, consistent with its purpose as disclosed in the *travaux préparatoires* which was discussed in *AKN and another v ALC and others and other appeals* [2016] 1 SLR 966 ("*AKN (No 2)*"). In sum, the remedy of remittal was tabled as "a useful device for curing procedural defects without having to set aside the award" (Report of the Working Group on International Contract Practices during its Seventh Session, UN Doc A/CN.9/246 at para 139). This echoed the Report of the Working Group on International Contract Practices on the Work of its Sixth Session, UN Doc A/CN.9/245 at paras 154–155 cited in *AKN (No 2)* at [32]:

154. Divergent views were expressed as to whether paragraph (3) should be retained. Under one view, the draft provision was useful in that it provided some guidance on procedural questions which were relevant in the case of remission. Under another view, the provision should be deleted since remission was not known in all legal systems and, in particular, the idea of orders or instructions to an arbitral tribunal was not acceptable. Under yet another view, **the option of remission should be retained, without the giving of orders or** 

instructions as envisaged in the second sentence; it was stated in support that this device would allow to cure a procedural defect without having to vacate the award.

155. The Working Group, after deliberation, adopted this latter view and requested the Secretariat to revise the provision accordingly.

[emphasis added]

In other words, the remittal of a matter to the same tribunal is an alternative remedy which may be used to mitigate the draconian consequences associated with the setting aside of an award altogether (AKN (No 2) at [33]).

In AKN (No 2), one of the questions raised was whether the appellants' application to remit certain issues in question to the tribunal should be acceded to. They argued that even after the award had been set aside in AKN and another v ALC and others and other appeals [2015] 3 SLR 488, the court could and should remit the matter to the tribunal. On the other hand, the respondents argued that the court had no power to remit, and even if it did, it was not an appropriate case on the facts. The Court of Appeal found that on the plain words of Art 34(4), since it had upheld the setting aside of certain portions of the award by the High Court, the question of remittal did not arise (at [34]).

In our judgment, the Bank's interpretation of Art 34(4) is incorrect. The power to remit vests in the High Court alone and the proper occasion for its exercise was before the High Court when it was asked to set aside the award. The role of the Court of Appeal in the present context is limited to reviewing the High Court's decision on the issue, assuming an application had been made below. Put differently, the Court of Appeal has no (original) jurisdiction to deal with an *ab initio* application to remit. As noted earlier, the Bank could have, but did not, make any application for remittal before the Judge. As counsel for the

Bank accepted, they "went for broke" in only seeking the full sum due. The Bank argues in its submission that the Judge could have invited the parties to consider this alternative remedy. Whilst we agree that it was open to the Judge to do so (see for example, *BSM v BSN and another matter* [2019] SGHC 185 at [21]; *JVL Agro Industries Ltd v Agritrade International Pte Ltd* [2016] 4 SLR 768 at [127]), the Judge was not obliged to do so and no criticism can be levelled against him in the circumstances.

- Finally, we address the Bank's argument on s 37 of the SCJA. The Bank relies on s 37(2) and s 37(5), which state as follows:
  - (2) In relation to such appeals, the Court of Appeal shall have all the powers and duties, as to amendment or otherwise, of the High Court, together with full discretionary power to receive further evidence by oral examination in court, by affidavit, or by deposition taken before an examiner or a commissioner.

...

(5) The Court of Appeal may draw inferences of facts, and give any judgment, and make any order which ought to have been given or made, and make such further or other orders as the case requires.

[emphasis added]

These provisions are reflected in O 57 rr 13(1) and 13(3) of the Rules of Court (Cap 322, R 5, 2014 Rev Ed) respectively as well.

We do not think either provision assists the Bank's case here. It is clear that both of these general provisions contain broadly worded powers granted to the Court of Appeal (see *Koh Sin Chong Freddie v Chan Cheng Wah Bernard and others and another appeal* [2013] 4 SLR 629 at [94]–[100] for a discussion of s 37(5) of the SCJA). If remittal had been applied for below and a decision

thereon was made by the High Court, then on appeal, this Court's function would be limited to affirming or reversing the High Court's decision on the issue. It is in this context that the Court of Appeal has all the powers of the High Court but the Court of Appeal has no jurisdiction to deal with an *ab initio* application to remit.

However, what appears to us to be separate and insurmountable obstacle in the present context is Art 5 of the Model Law, which reads:

Article 5. Extent of court intervention

In matters governed by this Law, no court shall intervene except where so provided in this Law.

[emphasis added]

The import of Art 5 of the Model Law, which is *lex specialis*, has been considered on a number of occasions. In *AKN (No 2)*, this Court reiterated at [21] that Art 5 serves to "confine the power of the court to intervene in an arbitration to those instances which are provided for in the Model Law and to 'exclude any general or residual powers' arising from sources other than the Model Law" (citing Howard M Holtzmann & Joseph E Neuhaus, *A Guide to the UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration: Legislative History and Commentary* (Kluwer Law and Taxation Publishers, 1989) at p 216, which in turn was also cited in *L W Infrastructure* at [36]). Thus, a user is essentially guaranteed that "he will find all instances of possible court intervention in [the Model Law], except for matters not regulated by it" (see *UNCITRAL Model Law on International Commercial Arbitration: note by the Secretariat* (UN Doc A/CN.9/309), which was issued following the adoption of the Model Law by the UNCITRAL on 21 June 1985, at para 16).

111 We have already explained that the power of remittal stipulated under Art 34(4) of the Model Law is a matter reserved to the High Court, the decision of which is subject to appeal. In our view, it would be impermissible for the Court of Appeal in the exercise of its appellate jurisdiction and the broad powers set out in s 37 of the SCJA to, in effect, circumvent the particular statutory regime under the Model Law and IAA.

112 For the above reasons, we dismiss the Bank's argument on the Legal Question. In the premises, we need not address the Factual Question, save to note that we would have had serious reservations as to the appropriateness of remittal as referred to in our judgment above and given the nature of evidence that has been excluded in breach of the fair hearing rule. We therefore make no order on remittal and affirm the decision of the Judge to set aside the Final Award on the ground of breach of natural justice.

# The tribunal's jurisdiction

Given our finding above, it is also unnecessary for us to deal with the alternative ground of setting aside the Final Award in relation to the arbitrator's jurisdiction.

#### Conclusion

114 For all the foregoing reasons, we see no basis for interfering with the Judge's decision to set aside the Final Award in its entirety, and accordingly, we dismiss the appeal. Unless the parties come to an agreement on costs, they are to furnish written submissions limited to 10 pages each, within 3 weeks of the date of this judgment on the appropriate costs order to be made.

Sundaresh Menon Chief Justice Judith Prakash Justice of the Court of Appeal

Quentin Loh Judge of the Appellate Division

> Peh Aik Hin, Lee May Ling, Rebecca Chia Su Min and Sampson Lim Jie Hao (Allen & Gledhill LLP) for the appellant; Clarence Lun Yaodong, Samuel Lim Jie Bin, Leng Ting Kun, Ammani Mathivanan and Charles Ho Jun Ji (Foxwood LLC) for the respondent.